## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re CADEN C.,	No. S255839		
A Person Coming Under the Juvenile Court Law.	Court of Appeal Nos. A153925 consolidated with		
SAN FRANCISCO HUMAN	A154042	(CRC)	
SERVICES AGENCY,	San Francisco No. JD153034	(8.25(b)	
Plaintiff and Appellant,	•		
<b>v</b> .	SUPREME COURT FILED		
CHRISTINE C. et al.,	SEP 0 4 2019		
Defendants and Respondents;	Jorge wavarrete Clerk		
CADEN C., a Minor,	Deputy	. · ·	
Appellant )			

## CHRISTINE C.'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After the Published Decision by the Court of Appeal First District, Division One Filed April 9, 2019 and Modified April 10, 2019

## **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

- (1) What standard of review governs appellate review of the beneficial parental relationship exception to adoption?
- (2) Is a showing that a parent has made progress in addressing the issues that led to dependency necessary to meet the beneficial parental relationship exception?

///

///

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The "relationship of a natural parent and a child is a vital human relationship which has far-reaching implications for the growth and development of the child." (In re Andrew L. (2004) 122 Cal. App. 4th 178, 195.) By creating the Welfare and Institutions Code<sup>1</sup> section 366.26. subdivision (c)(1)(B)(i), beneficial parent-child relationship exception to adoption, the Legislature recognized that these relationships are sometimes worth preserving even when a parent has not been able to reunify with the child. Despite the creation of this exception by the Legislature, the Courts of Appeal have, at times, imposed a requirement that the parent establish he or she had made progress in addressing the issues leading to the child's dependency before applying the beneficial parent-child relationship exception to adoption. This is contrary to the clear language of the statute and public policy and effectively renders the beneficial parent-child relationship exception meaningless. Thus, for the reasons set forth herein. this Court should find it not necessary that there be a showing that a parent has made progress in addressing the issues that led to dependency to meet the beneficial parent-child relationship exception to adoption.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All further statutory references are to the Welfare and Institutions Code unless otherwise noted.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS / PROCEDURAL HISTORY

### Original and Amended Petitions and Detention:

On September 16, 2013, Marin County Health and Human Services filed a petition that alleged then four-year-old Caden was subject to juvenile court jurisdiction pursuant to section 300, subdivisions (b), due to Mother's substance abuse, mental illness, and unstable housing. (1CT<sup>2</sup> 435-440.) That same day, Marin County Health and Human Services filed a first amended petition that added an allegation that Caden was also subject to juvenile court jurisdiction pursuant to section 300, subdivision (b), because Mother had a history of engaging in domestic violence with Caden's father as well as an allegation that Caden was subject to juvenile court jurisdiction pursuant to section 300 subdivision (j), because his half-siblings had previously been dependents. (1CT 429-434.) At the initial hearing held on September 16 and 23, 2013, the Marin County juvenile court found a prima facie showing had been made, ordered Caden temporarily detained, and set a contested jurisdiction hearing. (1CT 362-365, 417-419.)

///

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "CT" refers to the Clerk's Transcript, which will be identified by Volume; "ACT" refers to the Augmented Clerk's Transcript; "RT" refers to the Reporter's Transcript, which will be identified by date.

#### Jurisdiction:

After a settlement conference, on November 8, 2013, Marin County
Health and Human Services filed a second amended petition that alleged
Caden was subject to juvenile court jurisdiction pursuant to section 300,
subdivision (b), due to Mother's substance abuse, mental illness, and
unstable housing. (1CT 246-250, 311.) At the jurisdiction hearing held that
day, all parties submitted, the Marin County juvenile court sustained the
second amended petition and set a disposition hearing. (1CT 237-244.)

Disposition:

At the disposition hearing on January 14, 2014, the juvenile court declared Caden a dependent, ordered him removed from Mother's custody pending the provision of family reunification services to her, and set a sixmonth review for July 14, 2014. (1CT 166-179.)

#### Reunification Period:

During the reunification period, Mother completed residential substance abuse treatment at healthRIGHT360 and then transitioned to another treatment program at Women's Hope, where she remained. (1CT 89, 93-94.) Mother demonstrated the ability to remain clean and sober, to manage her anger, and to keep Caden safe. (1CT 89, 94.) She progressed to unmonitored visits in May 2015. (1CT 89, 94.) Caden missed Mother and

wanted to return to her custody. (1CT 89, 91.) As a result of the progress made by Mother, Caden was placed with her at Women's Hope on July 10, 2014. (1CT 58.) Subsequently, at the six-month review hearing on July 14, 2014, the Marin County juvenile court ordered Caden returned to Mother's custody under a family maintenance plan and set a six-month in-home review. (1CT 58-66.)

#### Family Maintenance:

From July 2014 to January 2015, Mother and Caden continued to reside at Women's Hope in San Francisco. (1CT 22, 27.) Mother actively sought other housing options and continued to demonstrate her ability to keep Caden safe. (1CT 22, 27.) At the six-month review hearing on January 12, 2015, the juvenile court continued Caden as a dependent and ordered the case transferred to San Francisco. (1CT 1-12.) On February 13, 2015, the San Francisco Juvenile Court (hereinafter juvenile court) accepted transfer and set a six-month in-home review. (2CT 449.)

Between January and July 2015, Caden remained in Mother's custody and they moved to a new apartment. (2CT 471, 473.) Despite turmoil regarding her move away from Women's Hope to private housing, Mother maintained her sobriety and demonstrated her ability to keep Caden safe. (2CT 473-475.) At the six-month review hearing on July 7, 2015, the

juvenile court continued Caden as a dependent and set another six-month in-home review. (2CT 507-510.)

From July 2015 to January 2016, Caden remained in Mother's custody. (2CT 519.) Mother struggled with her sobriety and continued to require support from the agency to parent Caden. (2CT 521-523, 529.) At the six-month review on January 5, 2016, the juvenile court continued Caden as a dependent, ordered Mother to participate in additional services, and set a further six-month in-home review. (2CT 545-552.)

Supplemental Petition and Re-detention:

Mother relapsed in January and March 2016, presented several positive tests, missed other tests, and failed to consistently participate in treatment to address substance abuse. (2CT 572, 575-576.) She did not regularly attend individual counseling. (2CT 574-575.) Mother had difficulty meeting Caden's needs in that she failed to assure he participated in therapy and attended summer school. (2CT 572.) As a result, Caden was taken back into protective custody on June 9, 2016. (2CT 565.)

On June 14, 2016, the agency filed a section 387 supplemental petition alleging that Caden's placement with Mother was no longer appropriate because Mother's unaddressed substance abuse and mental health concerns prevented her from adequately caring for Caden. (2CT 565-

568.) At the initial hearing held on June 15 and 16, 2016, the juvenile court found a prima facie showing had been made, ordered Caden temporarily detained, and set a contested jurisdiction and disposition hearing. (2CT 583-586, 589.)

## Adjudication of Supplemental Petition:

Pending adjudication of the supplemental petition, Caden was placed with his former foster mother and non-related extended family member (NREFM), Christina H. (2CT 629.) Caden remained there until August 9, 2016, when he was removed at Christina's request and placed in a licensed foster home in Modesto. (3CT 711.) Mother immediately re-enrolled in residential substance abuse treatment at healthRIGHT360. (2CT 635.)

Mother visited Caden regularly, supervised by the agency. (2CT 636.) She was prepared for visits and provided structure for Caden during visits. (2CT 636.) She brought toys, games and snacks to visits, played with Caden, and read books with him. (2CT 636.) Caden consistently stated that he wanted to go home with Mother and he also cried and said that he missed Mother. (2CT 636.) However, he was able to accept that he could not go home with Mother and could be soothed when upset. (2CT 636.) The agency observed that Mother and Caden had "a close bond and attachment." (2CT 636.)

Prior to the contested jurisdiction and disposition hearing, the parties reached an agreement under which Mother agreed to submit on the supplemental petition and the agency agreed to recommend a permanent plan of long-term foster care for Caden to give Mother an opportunity to file a petition for modification so as to regain custody of Caden. (3CT 683-685.) Hence, on August 15, 2016, the juvenile court sustained the supplemental petition, ordered Caden removed from Mother's custody, terminated Mother's reunification services, selected a permanent plan of long-term foster care for Caden with twice weekly visits for Mother and Caden, and set a six-month post-permanent plan review as well as a hearing on Mother's anticipated petition for modification. (3CT 692-697.)

## Post-Permanency Planning:

Pending the first post-permanent plan review, Caden initially remained placed in the same licensed foster home in Modesto where he was placed on August 9, 2016. (3CT 709, 711, 789.) Although he struggled to adjust, by late September he settled into the placement. (3CT 711.) Then, on February 13, 2017, Caden was placed in a new foster home in the Modesto area, where he reportedly adjusted well and was happy. (3CT 900-901.) Nevertheless, Caden struggled to emotionally deal with his removal from Mother's custody. (3CT 792-793.)

Mother completed residential substance abuse treatment at healthRIGHT360 on August 31, 2016, and also consistently participated in services offered through Family Treatment Court, including outpatient substance abuse treatment, a twelve-step program with a sponsor, and drug testing. (3CT 712, 714, 809-811, 874.) However, she continued to display issues with her mental health, failed to participate in therapy, had difficulty understanding the impact of her substance abuse on Caden, missed some drug tests, presented two positive tests (one for alcohol), and was ultimately discharged from Family Treatment Court on April 19, 2017. (3CT 712, 714. 810-811, 874; 4CT 964.)

Mother consistently visited Caden six hours per week, supervised at Seneca's First Stop, then at Environmental Alternatives, then in the community, and finally at the foster family agency. (3CT 712-713, 794, 813, 901-902.) Caden "value[d] his time" with Mother and looked forward to visits. (3CT 713, 902.) Mother was nurturing and affectionate with Caden and Caden was affectionate with Mother. (3CT 713.) However, Mother struggled with not discussing the case with Caden and the social workers and not making promises to Caden. (3CT 713-714, 794, 813-814, 875, 901.) Mother provided snacks and participated in structured activities

with Caden. (3CT 713, 794, 813-814.) She was able to set limits and redirect Caden and he responded to her. (3CT 713, 875.)

On January 5, 2017, Mother filed a petition for modification seeking either additional reunification services or Caden's return to her custody.

(3CT 724-785.) After a contested hearing on April 4, 2017, the juvenile court denied Mother's petition for modification finding that there were no changed circumstances. (3CT 895.)

After Mother's petition for modification was denied, the agency immediately sought to reduce Mother's visitation with Caden. (3CT 901-902.) The social worker consulted with Dr. Alicia Lieberman, the agency's "attachment-bonding" consultant, who recommended a reduction in visits because Caden's "frequent contact with the parent who is unstable left [him] in a state of heightened anxiety." (3CT 902.) On the other hand, Caden's therapist, Miriam Silverman, expressed concern about reducing visits because Caden looked forward to seeing Mother. (3CT 902.)

After an administrative review on May 9, 2017, in which Dr. Alicia Lieberman participated, the agency once again sought to reduce Mother's visitation with Caden "to allow him the chance to process his separation and adjust to a permanent home." (4CT 962-964.) The agency acknowledged that Caden had "a connection with [Mother]," but opined that the

relationship was not healthy and that the relationship was "sabotaging his stability in placement." (4CT 963.) Specifically, the agency reported that Caden had three placements in the eleven months since his last removal from Mother, with each placement failing due to the multitude of services Caden required, including visitation with Mother. (4CT 962.) The agency further reported that visitation with Mother seemingly prevented Caden from being able to connect to his caregivers and settle into a permanent home. (4CT 962.) Finally, the agency opined that visitation with Mother "cause[d] [Caden] to be in a constant state of being re-triggered and not being able to relax" because he was in a constant state of excitement when visitation days approached. (4CT 963.) The agency recognized that the reduction in visitation might impact Caden, but opined that therapeutic support would assist him in his adjustment. (4CT 963.)

After a contested six-month post-permanent plan review on May 24, 2017, the juvenile court continued Caden as a dependent, reduced Mother's visits with Caden to once per month, and set a section 366.26 selection and implementation hearing for September 19, 2017. (4CT 981-985.)

Subsequently, on June 1, 2017, the juvenile court formally appointed minor's counsel as Caden's educational rights holder. (4CT 993-994.)

///

#### Permanency Planning:

On May 19, 2017, Caden was re-placed in the home of Christina H., where he remained throughout the permanency planning stage.<sup>3</sup> (4CT 964, 1046, 1050, 1054, 1127; 1/22/18 RT 218.) Caden adjusted well to the placement as he had continuously maintained a relationship with Christina H. since being placed in her home from March to July 2014 and in the summer of 2016. (4CT 1049; 1/22/18 RT 218-219.) In September 2017, Christina H. indicated that she was committed to adopting Caden. (4CT 1053-1054, 1129.)

Caden was physically healthy and had no mental health, emotional, or behavioral concerns. (4CT 1048-1049.) However, due to his learning disability, he was performing two grade levels behind in school, i.e., he had completed second grade, but was performing at a kindergarten level. (4CT 1049; 1/22/18 RT 220.) Caden was attending weekly therapy with Miriam Silverman and was scheduled to end services on August 31, 2017. (4CT 1049.) However, it was planned for him to continue therapy with a new provider "to process the separation from [Mother] and adapt to his identified adoptive home." (4CT 1049.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> On August 15, 2017, Christina H. was designated as Caden's educational rights holder. (4CT 1035-1036.)

Between May 24, 2017 and July 2017, Mother's visits with Caden were reduced from twice per week, to once per week, then to biweekly, and finally to monthly. (4CT 1050.) Mother continued to bring snacks and to engage in appropriate interaction with Caden. (4CT 1050, 1133.) However, she again had difficulty refraining from discussing the case.<sup>4</sup> (4CT 1050-1051, 1133.)

Caden was upset that the visits were reduced to once per month and told his therapist that he wanted to continue visiting Mother. (4CT 1049, 1050.) Caden also regularly stated that he missed Mother. (4CT 1050.) However, he did not display any "concerning behaviors that indicated he was in crisis due to the reduced contact." (4CT 1050.)

When adoption was first discussed with Caden, he said he would be willing to live with Christina H. until he "was big," but asked if he would still be able to visit Mother. (4CT 1130; 1/22/18 RT 315.) Caden was reassured that he would have some type of visits with Mother that would resemble his current visits. (4CT 1130; 1/22/19 RT 315-316.) However, when asked the next day about being adopted by Christina H., Caden "started to cry and state that he wanted to live with [Mother]." (4CT 1130.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> At one point, Mother told the visitation supervisor that she spent her days in bed, drinking a mixture of vodka, orange juice, and cream, which she referred to as "creamsicles." (4CT 1050.)

The agency acknowledged that Caden had a "bond and attachment" to Mother and that he would have "some emotional responses to separation from [her]." (4CT 1051-1052, 1131.) However, the agency opined that maintaining the relationship with Mother was detrimental to Caden<sup>5</sup> because their relationship was "infused with moments of trauma and stability" and because Mother was not allowing him to be happy in his placement, which undermined Caden's "stability in foster care." (4CT 1051-1052, 1131-1132.)

#### The Section 366.26 Hearing:

The section 366.26 hearing took place on January 22, 29 and 31 and February 8, 2018. (4CT 1064, 1067, 1116-1119, 1164, 1171, 1175-1179, 1194-1200.) During the hearing, the juvenile court accepted into evidence the September 5, 2017 WIC 366.26 Report, the November 21, 2017 Addendum Report, the December 29, 2017 Addendum Report, the Curriculum Vitae of Dr. Alicia Lieberman [Exhibit 4] and her three-page Clinical Consultation Report [Exhibit 5], the Curriculum Vitae of Dr. Hugh Molesworth and his Bonding Study [Exhibit B], a letter from Caden, a drawing made by Caden, and a January 13, 2018 letter from David Simonini

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Nevertheless, Mother and Christina H. were referred for mediation to arrange post-adoption visitation. (4CT 1143-1144.)

to Mother [Exhibit H], as well as copies of reports related to Mother's daughter. (4CT 1178-1179; ACT 7-97.) The juvenile court also heard testimony from social worker Chabrika Bowers, Mother's adult children Aris and Brian, Danielle Williams, Mother's daughter Naomi G., Dr. Alicia Lieberman, Dr. Hugh Molesworth, David Simonini, Sherrie Taylor, and Nhyema Barnes. (4CT 1176-1177.)

Testimony of Social Worker Chabrika Bowers:

Bowers had been the social worker on Caden's case since February 2015 when Caden was living with Mother. (1/22/18 RT 217.) Bowers described Caden as a "really awesome engaging social kid." (1/22/18RT 221-222.) Bowers was recommending termination of parental rights and a permanent plan of adoption for Caden. (1/22/18 RT 231.) Her recommendation was based on the longevity of Caden's relationship with his foster mother, Christina H., her dedication to him and his comfort with her, the stability and security that placement with Christina H. offered to Caden as well as Christina H.'s willingness to support ongoing contact between Caden and Mother. (1/22/18 RT 231, 247-249, 327.) However, Bowers also indicated that she would have supported a permanent plan of legal guardianship if that was the permanent plan that Christina H. had desired because ongoing contact with Mother was part pf what was best for

Caden. (1/22/18 RT 301.) Nevertheless, Bowers believed adoption was the best permanent plan for Caden because it would offer him stability and put an end to litigation. (1/22/18 RT 330-331.)

According to Bowers, Caden's visits with Mother were originally twice a week for three hours, supervised.<sup>6</sup> (1/22/18 RT 234.) Mother and Caden were affectionate with each other and Mother interacted appropriately with Caden, but Mother had difficulty focusing on Caden and not discussing the case. (1/22/18 RT 234-238.) Since visits were reduced in May 2017, Caden was currently visiting with Mother once per month for two-and-one-half hours. (1/22/18 RT 231, 288-289.) Caden was "not happy" about the reduction in visits and said that he missed Mother, but he did not display any concerning behaviors as a result of the reduction in visits. (1/22/18 RT 244-245, 290, 291.)

Bowers believed that Mother's actions directly led to the failure of three placements for Caden, including the 2016 failure of his placement with Christina H. (1/22/18 RT 239-242.) Bowers did not have any concerns about Caden's current placement with Christina H. failing and recognized that Mother supported that placement. (1/22/18 RT 242-244, 311.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Bowers never observed a visit between Mother and Caden. (1/22/18 RT 236.)

Bowers acknowledged that Caden had a connection and a bond with Mother, that he looked forward to visits with Mother, and that maintaining visitation with Mother was important to Caden. (1/22/18 RT 249, 288, 289-290.) She also acknowledged that, when she was discussing adoption with Caden, he cried and said he wanted to be with Mother. (1/22/18 RT 248.) *Testimony of Dr. Alicia Lieberman:*

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