# CASE NO. S255839

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF **C**ALIFORNIA

In re CADEN C.,

A Person Coming Under Juvenile Law.

### SAN FRANCISCO HUMAN SERVICES AGENCY,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

SUPREME COURT FILED

v.

OCT 07 2019

CHRISTINA C., et al.,

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Defendants and Respondents.

Deputy

Court of Appeal Case Nos. A153925, A154042

San Francisco Superior Court Case No. JD153034

### APPELLANT'S ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After the Published Decision by the Court of Appeal First District, Division One Filed April 9, 2019 and Modified April 10, 2019

Dennis J. Herrera, SBN: 139669

City Attorney

Kimiko Burton, SBN: 148173

Lead Attorney

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

#### III. ARGUMENT

# A. The Beneficial Relationship Exception Applies Only in The Most Extraordinary of Cases.

"'The Legislature has declared that California has an interest in providing stable, permanent homes for children who have been removed from parental custody and for whom reunification efforts with their parents have been unsuccessful.' "(*In re Celine R.* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 45, 53, quoting *In re Marilyn H.* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 295, 307.)

The .26 hearing, held after the juvenile court has either terminated or bypassed reunification services, "is designed to protect children's 'compelling rights . . . to have a placement that is stable, permanent, and that allows the caretaker to make a full emotional commitment to the child.' " (In re Celine R., supra, 31 Cal.4th at 52–53, quoting In re Marilyn H., supra, 5 Cal.4th at 306.)

At a .26 hearing "the court may order one of three alternative plans:

(1) adoption (necessitating the termination of parental rights); (2) guardianship; or (3) long-term foster care." (*In re J.C.* (2014) 226

Cal.App.4th 503, 528, citing § 366.26, subd. (c)(1), (c)(4)(A).) "
'Adoption is the Legislature's first choice because it gives the child the best chance at [a full] emotional commitment from a responsible caretaker.' " (In re Celine R., supra, 31 Cal.4th 45, 53, quoting In re Jasmine D. (2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 1339, 1348 (Jasmine D.).) Once a court has terminated reunification services, and once it has determined that the child is adoptable, the decision to terminate parental rights is "relatively automatic." (Cynthia D. v. Super. Ct. (1993) 5 Cal.4th 242, 250.)<sup>7</sup>

A parent seeking a plan that is less stable and impermanent – guardianship or foster care – must show the termination of parental rights would be detrimental under one of the exceptions listed in section 366.26. (*In re J.C.*, *supra*, 226 Cal.App.4th at 528.) Among these is the beneficial relationship exception, under which "[t]he court finds a compelling reason for determining that termination would be detrimental to the child"

<sup>&</sup>quot;The Legislature has decreed . . . that guardianship is not in the best interests of children who cannot be returned to their parents. These children can be afforded the best possible opportunity to get on with the task of growing up by placing them in the most permanent and secure alternative that can be afforded them. In decreeing adoption to be the preferred permanent plan, the Legislature recognized that, "Although guardianship may be a more stable solution than foster care, it is not irrevocable and thus falls short of the secure and permanent placement intended by the Legislature." (*In re Beatrice M.* (1994) 29 Cal.App.4th 1411, 1419, citation omitted.)

because "[t]he parents have maintained regular visitation and contact with the child and the child would benefit from continuing the relationship." (§ 366.26, subd. (c)(1)(B)(i).)

The exception has been judicially construed to be a three-prong test, in which the court must determine: 1) whether the parent maintained regular visitation; 2) whether a beneficial parental relationship exists; and 3) whether there is a compelling reason to forego adoption because the benefit the child would gain from continuing the parent-child relationship outweighs the benefits the child would receive from adoption. (*In re Breanna S.* (2017) 8 Cal.App.5th 636, 646-647 (*Breanna S.*); *In re Logan B.* (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 1000, 1009-1013.) The parent has the burden of proving that the exception applies. (*Breanna S.* at 646; *In re I.W.* (2009) 180 Cal.App.4th 1517, 1527.)

"The plain language of section 366.26, the purpose and the history of the statute, and prior case law" all demonstrate that the benefit from continuing a parental relationship must be weighed against the child's interest in adoption. (*In re Logan B., supra*, 3 Cal.App.5th at 845-846.) "Because a section 366.26 hearing occurs only after the court has repeatedly found the parent unable to meet the child's needs, it is only in an extraordinary case that preservation of the parent's rights will prevail over the Legislature's preference for adoptive placement." (*Breanna S.*,

supra, 8 Cal.App.5th at 646, quoting Jasmine D., supra, 78 Cal.App.4th at 1350.)

#### B. The Beneficial Relationship Exception Has Three Prongs.

#### (1) The first prong – visitation.

As explained by the court below, the first prong is relatively straightforward. "[F]or purposes of the beneficial relationship exception, '[r]egular visitation exists where the parents visit consistently and to the extent permitted by court orders.' "(Caden C., supra, 34 Cal.App.5th at 104, quoting *In re I.R.* (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 201, 212.)

#### (2) The second prong – the beneficial relationship.

The second prong, asking whether the parent-child relationship is sufficiently "beneficial" to qualify for the exception, is more complicated. In *Autumn H.*, the court construed the "benefit" specified by subdivision (c)(1)(B)(i) to mean "the relationship promotes the well-being of the child to such a degree as to outweigh the well-being the child would gain in a permanent home with new, adoptive parents. In other words, the court balances the strength and quality of the natural parent/child relationship in a tenuous placement against the security and the sense of belonging a new family would confer. If severing the natural parent/child relationship would deprive the child of a substantial, positive emotional attachment

such that the child would be greatly harmed, the preference for adoption is overcome and the natural parent's rights are not terminated." (*Autumn H.*, *supra*, 27 Cal.App.4th at 575.)

The parent-child relationship must be 'parental.' "No matter how loving and frequent the contact, and notwithstanding the existence of an 'emotional bond' with the child, 'the parents must show that they occupy "a parental role" in the child's life.' " (*In re K.P.* (2012) 203 Cal.App.4th 614, 621, citations omitted.)

Interaction between natural parent and child will always confer some incidental benefit to the child. The significant attachment from child to parent results from the adult's attention to the child's needs for physical care, nourishment, comfort, affection and stimulation. [Citation omitted.] The exception applies only where the court finds regular visits and contact have continued or developed a significant, positive, emotional attachment from child to parent.

... The exception must be examined on a case-by-case basis, taking into account the many variables which affect a parent/child bond. The age of the child, the portion of the child's life spent in the parent's custody, the "positive" or "negative" effect of interaction between parent and child, and the child's particular needs are some of the variables which logically affect a parent/child bond.

(Autumn H., supra, 27 Cal.App.4th at 575–576.)

In *In re Casey D.* (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 38, (like *Autumn H.*, decided by the Fourth District, Division One), the court wrote: "The

Autumn H. standard reflects the legislative intent that adoption should be ordered unless exceptional circumstances exist, one of those exceptional circumstances being the existence of such a strong and beneficial parent-child relationship that terminating parental rights would be detrimental to the child and outweighs the child's need for a stable and permanent home that would come with adoption." (Id. at 51.) In Jasmine D., the First District wrote, "a child should not be deprived of an adoptive parent when the natural parent has maintained a relationship that may be beneficial to some degree but does not meet the child's need for a parent. It would make no sense to forgo adoption in order to preserve parental rights in the absence of a real parental relationship." (Jasmine D., supra, 78 Cal.App.4th at 1350.)

#### (3) The third prong – a compelling reason.

Assuming a sufficiently parental and beneficial relationship exists, the third prong of the exception requires the parent to prove that there is a "compelling reason to forego adoption" due the existence of that relationship. As explained by *Jasmine D.*, the Legislature emphasized the *exceptional* nature of the subdivision (c)(1) circumstances "by revising the statute in 1998 to require the court to find not only that one of the listed circumstances exists, but also that it provide 'a compelling reason for determining that termination would be detrimental to the child.' [Citation.]

This amendment . . . makes it plain that a parent may not claim entitlement to the exception [] simply by demonstrating some benefit to the child from a continued relationship with the parent, or some detriment from termination of parental rights." (*Jasmine D., supra*, 78 Cal.App.4th at 1349; see also *In re Logan B., supra*, 3 Cal.App.5th at 845 [same].)

# C. The Hybrid Standard of Review Governs Appellate Review of The Beneficial Parental Relationship Exception to Adoption.

The Agency agrees with mother that the hybrid standard of review first announced in *Bailey J.* is the appropriate standard of review. (Mother's Opening Brief ("MOB") at 35.) The Court of Appeal applies the substantial evidence standard to review of the first and second prongs (regular visitation and the existence of a beneficial parental relationship, respectively), and the abuse of discretion standard to the third prong (determination of whether the existence of a beneficial parental relationship presents a compelling reason for overriding the statutory preference for adoption). (*In re Bailey J.*, (2010) 189 Cal.App.4th 1308, 1315 (*Bailey J.*); *In re Anthony B.* (2015) 239 Cal.App.4th 389, 395.) As explained by the court below:

...a juvenile court's determination whether such a relationship provides a compelling justification for forgoing adoption "is based on the facts but is not primarily a factual issue." (*Bailey J., supra*, 189 Cal.App.4th at p. 1315.) Rather, it is "a 'quintessentially' discretionary decision, which

calls for the juvenile court to determine the importance of the relationship in terms of the detrimental impact that its severance can be expected to have on the child and to weigh that against the benefit to the child of adoption." (*Ibid.*; see *Jasmine D.*, at p. 1351.) Intrinsic to a balancing of these interests is the exercise of the court's discretion, properly reviewable for abuse. (*In re E.T.* [(2018) 31 Cal.App.5th 68], at p. 76; *Bailey J.*, at p. 1315.)

(Caden C., supra, 34 Cal.App.5th at 106.) As mentioned above, however, the Agency disagrees with mother's argument regarding the Court of Appeal's application of the abuse of discretion standard to the facts of this case.

### D. The Court of Appeal Applied the Correct Standard and Arrived at the Correct Result.

It has often been said, as mother did, that "[t]he appropriate test for abuse of discretion is whether the trial court exceeded the bounds of reason. When two or more inferences can reasonably be deduced from the facts, the reviewing court has no authority to substitute its decision for that of the trial court." (In re Stephanie M. (1994) 7 Cal.4th 295, 318–319, citations omitted.) But trial court discretion "is not 'unfettered'" (Bettencourt v. Los Rios Community College Dist. (1986) 42 Cal.3d 270, 275, citation omitted), and it "is not unlimited" (Westside Community for Independent Living, Inc. v. Obledo (1983) 33 Cal.3d 348, 355). The court's discretion is "but a legal discretion, which is subject to the

limitations of legal principles governing the subject of its action, and to reversal on appeal where no reasonable basis for the action is shown." (Id. at 355, quoting 6 Witkin (2d ed. 1971) Appeal, § 244, p. 4235.) "A discretionary order that is based on the application of improper criteria or incorrect legal assumptions is not an exercise of informed discretion, and is subject to reversal even though there may be substantial evidence to support that order." (Mark T. v. Jamie Z. (2011) 194 Cal.App.4th 1115, 1124–1125.) A trial court "would necessarily abuse its discretion if it based its ruling on an erroneous view of the law or on a clearly erroneous assessment of the evidence. (Cooter & Gell v. Hartmarx Corp. (1990) 496 U.S. 384, 405.) In this case, the trial court based its decision on a both a clearly erroneous assessment of the evidence and an erroneous view of the law. As the Court of Appeal correctly assessed, the trial court not only misapprehended the facts, it also failed to ask the right question.

The trial court's findings indicate that it misunderstood the test to be applied, skipping over the third prong entirely. The court concluded its recitation of its findings by stating:

The Court finds that severing Caden's relationship with his Mother would deprive Caden of a positive emotional attachment and greatly harm Caden.

Accordingly the Court does find based upon the foregoing that Ms. Coggins has established the continuing beneficial relationship exception determination of parental rights and that that does apply

in this case and that that relationship does outweigh at this time any prospective adoption.

(2/8/19 RT 26; 4CT 1209-1210.)

By jumping from a finding that terminating parental rights would "would deprive Caden of a positive emotional attachment" (that is, a beneficial relationship)<sup>8</sup> to a determination that mother had established the beneficial relationship exception, the court skipped over the third prong, omitting consideration of whether there was a "compelling reason" to ignore the statutory preference for adoption. As the Court of Appeal noted below, "The juvenile court's bare assertion that the 'relationship [between Caden and mother] outweighed any prospective adoption' sheds no light on how the court balanced these competing detriments." (*Caden C.*, *supra*, 34 Cal.App.5th at 113.)

The Court of Appeal also wrote that "[i]n the absence of any explanation, we look to the evidence as a whole to ascertain if it supports the juvenile court's determination." (Caden C., supra, 34 Cal.App.5th at 113.) Where the trial court has not made a finding on a necessary element required for it to make its "quintessentially discretionary decision" (determining "the importance of the relationship in terms of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> As explained in Appellant's Opening Brief in the Court of Appeal, the Agency disputes whether the finding on the second prong was supported by substantial evidence here. (AOB 71-80.)

detrimental impact that its severance can be expected to have on the child and to weigh that against the benefit to the child of adoption" (*Bailey J.*, *supra*, 189 Cal.App.4th at 1315)), an appellate court reviewing for abuse of discretion will need to review the record to determine whether the trial court's exercise of its discretion was premised on "an erroneous view of the law or on a clearly erroneous assessment of the evidence." (*Cooter & Gell v. Hartmarx Corp.*, *supra*, 496 U.S. at 405.) The Court of Appeal performed that review and properly determined that the trial court erred.

Among other things, the juvenile court improperly balanced the "strong developing relationship" Caden shared with Ms. H. against the bond he shared with mother, concluding that the strength of his relationship with his foster parent would "not negate" the harm he would experience from the loss of his natural parent.<sup>9</sup> (2/8/18 RT 25.) But comparing Caden's relationships with his natural and foster mothers ignored the need to balance "the strength and quality of the natural parent/child relationship in a tenuous placement against the security and the sense of belonging a new family would confer." (*Autumn H., supra*, 27 Cal.App.4th at 575.) It is not the *specific* new family that is to be judged, but the security and sense of belonging that *a* new family – his adoptive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The court stated: "The record does show that while he has a strong developing relationship with Ms. [H.] that relationship in and of itself does not negate the harm that Caden would experience from the loss of his most significant emotional relationship. And that is with his Mother."

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